IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 82,083

OCEAN TRAIL UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATES MEAD and WILLIAM BRISTER, etc.,

Respondents.

4th District Court of Appeal -Case No. 91-00350



SEP 15 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT--CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Daniel S. Rosenbaum, Esq. BECKER & POLIAKOFF, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner OCEAN TRAIL UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. 450 Australian Avenue South 7th Floor - Reflections Building West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407)655-5444

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case comes to this Court to answer the following question certified to be of great public importance by the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

WHETHER A CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION CAN ENFORCE A SPECIAL ASSESSMENT IMPOSED TO PAY JUDGMENTS, ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS INCURRED IN CONNECTION WITH A LAWSUIT BROUGHT BY UNIT OWNERS AGAINST THE ASSOCIATION IN WHICH THE ASSOCIATION'S PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY WAS INVALIDATED AS AN UNAUTHORIZED ACT AND SUBSEQUENTLY RESCINDED

The original Opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is <u>States Mead, et. al. vs. Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, ______ So. 2d ______, 18 F.L.W. D464 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). The Opinion on Rehearing of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in which the question is certified to this Court, is <u>States Mead</u>, <u>et. al. vs. Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, ______ So 2d ______, 18 F.L.W. D1432 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Both Opinions are contained in OCEAN TRAIL'S Appendix to this Brief.

Throughout this Brief, Petitioner will be referred to as "OCEAN TRAIL". Respondents will be referred to as "Respondents". The following symbols are adopted for reference herein:

- A Appendix to Respondents' Initial Brief filed with Fourth District Court of Appeal.
- AA Appendix to OCEAN TRAIL's Answer Brief filed with Fourth District Court of Appeal.
- B Appendix to OCEAN TRAIL's Brief filed with the Florida Supreme Court.
- R Record on Appeal.

Respondents were the Appellants in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. OCEAN TRAIL was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

OCEAN TRAIL is a condominium association responsible for operating and maintaining the extensive common properties and facilities (tennis courts, swimming pool, clubhouse, roads, etc.) within the OCEAN TRAIL condominium development located in Jupiter, Florida (AA-3, 6, 10, 13, 17, and 35). OCEAN TRAIL owns the common properties and facilities in its own name and maintains and operates them for the benefit of all 602 unit owners (AA-3, 6, 10, 13, 17 and 35).

In March, 1985, the Board of Directors of OCEAN TRAIL began discussions with Campeau Corporation Florida, the developer of the OCEAN TRAIL complex, for the purchase by OCEAN TRAIL of an unimproved parcel of property within the complex that Campeau had decided not to build upon. OCEAN TRAIL consulted its attorney, Jay Steven Levine, Esquire, for legal advice concerning the legal ability and authority of OCEAN TRAIL to purchase the property. Mr. Levine advised OCEAN TRAIL orally and in writing that because it was a homeowner's association and not a condominium association, it had the authority to purchase the property without a unit owner vote, and that a levy of a special assessment (hereafter referred to as the "purchase special assessment") by the Board of Directors without a unit owner vote to fund the purchase was authorized by OCEAN TRAIL'S documents Relying upon this advice, OCEAN TRAIL entered (AA - 34, 38). into and consummated an agreement with Campeau for the purchase of the property (hereafter referred to as the "Campeau purchase")

and the purchase special assessment of \$1,518.44 per unit was levied by OCEAN TRAIL against all units with OCEAN TRAIL. (R 532-554) After this occurred, approximately one hundred fifty (150) unit owners who did not pay the purchase special assessment, including Respondents, MEAD and BRISTER the class representatives in this case, joined together as plaintiffs and filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief in the Circuit Court of Palm Beach County, Florida, to have the purchase and the purchase special assessment declared invalid. (R 532-554) (A-24). The attorney for the unit owners was John Avery, Jr. The case was styled Levy v. Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association, Inc.

OCEAN TRAIL filed two crossclaims in this litigation. The first crossclaim was filed in November, 1985, and was an action by OCEAN TRAIL against Campeau for rescission of the purchase transaction, including return of the land purchase monies (R 532-554). The rescission crossclaim was pursued in the name of OCEAN TRAIL, and thus, on behalf of all of the unit owners in OCEAN TRAIL, and thus, on behalf of all of the unit owners in OCEAN TRAIL¹. This crossclaim eventually resulted in a rescission judgment. The second claim was filed in February, 1987, and was an action for declaratory relief against OCEAN TRAIL's insurance carrier, Standard Fire, who had denied coverage under OCEAN TRAIL's insurance policy for the losses that had occurred and

¹A separate rescission action was also instituted by the unit owner group when they filed suit. However, this action was later dismissed by the unit owners after OCEAN TRAIL initiated and pursued its own claim for rescission (AA-3, 6, 10, 13, 17 and 35).

were anticipated to occur in the future from the purchase. This crossclaim settled prior to trial.

In August, 1985, the Circuit Court entered summary judgment against OCEAN TRAIL on the unit owners' claim, finding that OCEAN TRAIL was a condominium association, not a homeowner's association, and as such, lacked the authority under the Condominium Act to purchase the property without the consent of all 602 unit owners, and that the assessment to fund the purchase was similarly invalid (R 532-554). In April, 1986, the trial court's order was affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association v. Levy, 489 So.2d 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (R 532-554). Thereafter, commencing in May, 1986, many of the owners who paid all or part of the purchase special assessment began to file separate, individual lawsuits for return of their monies plus interest, attorneys fees and All of these law suits resulted in judgments against costs. OCEAN TRAIL, and were continuing to be filed on an on-going basis (R 532-554).

As a result of the judgments in these law suits and the executions and levies that had taken place against OCEAN TRAIL's property, by March, 1988, the financial condition of OCEAN TRAIL had become critical (R 556). OCEAN TRAIL reasonably believed that a special assessment was necessary to pay the judgments that were being imposed and which were anticipated to be rendered against it in the pending unit owner law suits to protect its common properties and facilities from execution and levy (R 556).

The most significant of these judgments was the attorney's fee and cost judgment that the trial court was ready to assess against OCEAN TRAIL in favor of the unit owner plaintiffs in the Levy lawsuit, for their expenses in the trial court and on At this time, an attorney's fee and cost hearing had appeal. already been held, in which Attorney John Avery had requested judgment in excess of \$200,000.00 for attorney's fees and costs. OCEAN TRAIL, at this time, was awaiting the trial court's ruling on this motion. Under the reasonable and good faith belief that a special assessment would be necessary to pay the judgments entered and to be entered against it, OCEAN TRAIL, in March, 1988, levied a \$500.00 per unit special assessment (hereafter referred to as "judgment special assessment") for the sole and exclusive purpose of paying the substantial attorney's fee and cost judgment about to be awarded to Attorney Avery, and to pay the other unit owner judgments that were entered and anticipated to be entered against OCEAN TRAIL by the individual unit owners in the pending and future lawsuits (A-2) (R 556). The judgment special assessment was intended to protect the tennis courts, swimming pool, clubhouse and other property titled in OCEAN TRAIL'S name from execution and levy by the judgment creditors (A-2) (R 556).

On April 19, 1988, an attorney's fee and cost judgment in the amount of \$194,079.37 was rendered in favor of the unit owners and their attorney, John Avery, Jr., against OCEAN TRAIL (R 532-554). That judgment was recorded and re-recorded in the

Public Records of Palm Beach County and became a lien against the property of OCEAN TRAIL (AA-26). In May, 1988, the attorney's fee and cost judgment was paid entirely from monies collected from the judgment special assessment (R 555). The various judgments obtained by the individual unit owners who sued to recover the purchase special assessment were also recorded and were paid from time to time after they were entered. (R 532-534, 555-556).

In July, 1988, OCEAN TRAIL entered into a settlement agreement with Standard Fire on its crossclaim in the Levy litigation (A-3) (R 532-554). In exchange for payment of \$275,000.00 for disputed coverage, OCEAN TRAIL released Standard Fire from all liability it may have had under its policy of insurance for OCEAN TRAIL in connection with any claim arising in any way out of the Campeau purchase (R 532-554). From these monies, \$175,000.00 was used to pay OCEAN TRAIL's past due attorney's fees incurred in the rescission and other lawsuits, with the balance of the monies distributed on a pro rata basis, to all unit owners who had paid all or a part of the purchase special assessments but who had not already obtained a judgment against OCEAN TRAIL. (R 555-563, 734-735, 743-744) (AAA-4) A11 of these owners received twenty-seven percent (27%) of the amount of their payment toward the purchase special assessment from the \$100,000.00 disbursement. (A-4) (R. 734-735, 743-744). No other monies were available to complete the reimbursement at that time

because OCEAN TRAIL had not yet settled the rescission claim against Campeau and its financial situation was critical. (A-4)

The rescission crossclaim filed by OCEAN TRAIL in the Levy case was concluded in September, 1989, when the trial court entered a Final Judgment in favor of OCEAN TRAIL, granting rescission and requiring the return of the property to Campeau upon payment of the sum of \$630,000.00, which included recovery of OCEAN TRAIL's attorneys fees and costs. (AA 32-51, R 532-The trial court in that case determined that the Board of 554). Directors of OCEAN TRAIL had acted in good faith and had relied upon its attorney's advice in entering into the purchase agreement and in levying the purchase special assessment. The Court also found that the Board of Directors and Campeau had made a mutual mistake of fact pertaining to OCEAN TRAIL's authority in entering into the purchase and sale. OCEAN TRAIL completed the rescission and collected \$630,000.00 from Campeau in October, 1989. OCEAN TRAIL paid from these monies the remaining 73% due (100% less the 27% previously paid) plus interest, to those unit owners who had paid all or part of the original purchase special assessment but who did not receive a judgment. At this time all of the unit owners who paid all or part of the purchase special assessment were now paid in full whether they received a judgment or not. (R 532-554).

The lawsuit giving rise to the case at bar was commenced on June 15, 1988, when Respondents filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief against OCEAN TRAIL seeking a determination that the

judgment special assessment of \$500.00 per unit was improper. (R 1-20) The case was certified as a class action and Respondents were confirmed as class representatives. (R 39-41) OCEAN TRAIL filed a Counterclaim in the action to foreclose claims of lien filed against the class members as a result of their non-payment of the judgment special assessment. (R 51-161) The case was tried before the trial court on October 31, 1990. The issues for determination by the trial court as stipulated by the parties were:

- A. Whether the \$500.00 judgment special assessment levied on March 28, 1988 was proper;
- B. Whether the Board of Directors breached its fiduciary duty in entering into settlement of OCEAN TRAIL's claim against its insurance carrier for \$275,000.00;
- C. Whether the uses for which the insurance settlement funds were distributed were proper.

(R 537).

The trial court, after hearing extensive testimony and considering numerous exhibits, determined that the judgment special assessment was valid, that the Board of Directors had not breached their fiduciary duty, and that the settlement funds were properly disbursed and utilized (R 555). The Court entered an Order titled "Final Judgment" on December 6, 1990, in favor of OCEAN TRAIL on all three issues (R 555-563). Actually, this

Order was an Order determining liability only, because further judicial efforts were needed to conclude the case.²

On February 2, 1991, Respondents filed their Notice of Appeal to the District Court of Appeal, seeking reversal of the Order of the trial court (R 827-828). Respondents specifically did not appeal the issue of whether OCEAN TRAIL breached its fiduciary duty by entering into the insurance settlement. Respondents, on page 2 of their Initial Brief, stated that:

> In this appeal, the Appellants do not question the trial court's resolution of the second issue presented for trial, <u>i.e.</u>, whether the Association breached its fiduciary duties by entering into the insurance settlement. <u>Although the</u> <u>Appellants disagree with the trial court's</u> <u>ruling, they can see that he made his ruling</u> <u>based upon disputed facts which would mandate</u> <u>affirmance...</u>

(B 2). (Emphasis added). Respondents did not furnish a transcript of the trial proceedings to the District Court of appeal.

The District Court of Appeal filed its Opinion on February 10, 1993 (B 72). The Court reversed all of the trial court's rulings, including the ruling that OCEAN TRAIL did not breach its fiduciary duty by entering into the insurance settlement. That

²Thereafter, the trial court determined the amount of costs and attorney's fees due OCEAN TRAIL for the trial court litigation. On May 9, 1991, a Final Judgment of Foreclosure was rendered which ordered foreclosure of the claims of lien securing the unpaid assessments, interest, costs and attorney's fees against each of the condominium units comprising the class. That Order was appealed separately to the District Court of Appeal and has been stayed until this case is decided.

issue was never briefed or argued by the parties because it was not raised on appeal.

On February 24, 1993, OCEAN TRAIL filed a Motion for Rehearing <u>En Banc</u> and a Motion for Rehearing, Clarification and Certification (B 78-85, 88-110). On June 16, 1993, the District Court of Appeal entered its Opinion on Rehearing which denied OCEAN TRAIL'S Motions for Rehearing, but granted OCEAN TRAIL'S Motion for Certification (B 118). The District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

WHETHER A CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION CAN ENFORCE A SPECIAL ASSESSMENT IMPOSED TO PAY JUDGMENTS, ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS INCURRED IN CONNECTION WITH A LAWSUIT BROUGHT BY UNIT OWNERS AGAINST THE ASSOCIATION IN WHICH THE ASSOCIATION'S PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY WAS INVALIDATED AS AN UNAUTHORIZED ACT AND SUBSEQUENTLY RESCINDED.

Petitioner filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with the District Court of Appeal on July 6, 1993 (B 120).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER A CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION CAN ENFORCE ASSESSMENT SPECIAL IMPOSED то PAY Δ JUDGMENTS, ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS INCURRED IN CONNECTION WITH A LAWSUIT BROUGHT BY UNIT OWNERS AGAINST THE ASSOCIATION IN WHICH THE ASSOCIATION'S PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY WAS AN "UNAUTHORIZED ACT" AND INVALIDATED AS SUBSEQUENTLY RESCINDED

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative under existing statutory and Florida case law, and to facilitate the just, equitable and practical discharge of judgments rendered against condominium and other not-for-profit associations when a mistake is made.

The Board of Directors of OCEAN TRAIL, acting in good faith. upon the advice of counsel and with apparent authority, mistakenly incurred a liability which resulted in judgments against OCEAN TRAIL. In order to discharge this liability and protect OCEAN TRAIL's common properties and facilities from sheriff's levy from judgment creditors, OCEAN TRAIL levied a \$500.00 per unit special assessment to raise sufficient funds to satisfy the judgments. OCEAN TRAIL had the specific authority under its Condominium Documents and under the Florida Condominium Act to levy a special assessment for the purpose of paying judgment liens or paying losses of OCEAN TRAIL. This special assessment was lawfully imposed for a legitimate and authorized purpose. The fact that the judgments were entered against OCEAN result of the original "unauthorized act" is TRAIL as a

irrelevant to whether this subsequent remedial action taken by OCEAN TRAIL to discharge these debts and protect its property is lawful. The District Court of Appeal erred in determining that OCEAN TRAIL lacked the power and authority to levy the special assessment to pay these judgments which was needed to protect OCEAN TRAIL's property and to continue the operations of OCEAN TRAIL for the benefit of its unit owners, including Respondents.

The District Court of Appeal also committed reversible error by changing material undisputed facts which were determined by the trial court and established by stipulation of the parties. This was done without so much as a trial transcript, which Respondents failed to furnish to the District Court of Appeal as part of its appellate review.

The District Court of Appeal's review of the issue of OCEAN TRAIL's alleged breach of fiduciary duty by entering into the insurance settlement, which Respondent specifically acknowledged in their Brief, was not an issue on appeal, is improper because the parties did not have the opportunity to brief or argue the issue. Moreover, OCEAN TRAIL's decision to settle the insurance claim was authorized by statute governing the authority of directors of a not-for-profit corporation and was within the Board of Directors' sound business judgment. The District Court of Appeal disturbed these findings by the trial court and improperly interferred with the corporate management decisions of OCEAN TRAIL.

The District Court of Appeal mistakenly concluded that the disbursement of the proceeds from the insurance settlement constituted "preferential selectivity" on the basis that reimbursement of some but not all unit owners was improper. This ruling directly contradicts the findings of fact of the trial court and the trial court's determination that the payment of monies to OCEAN TRAIL's judgment creditors was not an unauthorized distribution of common surplus, but rather the proper payment of a common expense of OCEAN TRAIL. The trial court's decision was correctly based upon the undisputed facts that after payment of OCEAN TRAIL's attorneys fees, the remaining portion of the settlement monies were distributed to all owners who had <u>not</u> obtained judgments as a debt of OCEAN TRAIL.

THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE BECAUSE:

CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION HAS THE LEGAL AUTHORITY TO LEVY AND ENFORCE Ά SPECIAL IMPOSED то PAY JUDGMENTS, ASSESSMENT INCURRED ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS TN CONNECTION WITH A LAWSUIT BROUGHT BY UNIT OWNERS AGAINST THE ASSOCIATION IN WHICH THE ASSOCIATION'S PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY WAS INVALIDATED AS AN "UNAUTHORIZED ACT" AND SUBSEQUENTLY RESCINDED.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY CHANGING MATERIAL FACTS THAT WERE FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT AND ESTABLISHED BY STIPULATION OF THE PARTIES.

In the case at bar, Respondents did not furnish a transcript of the trial proceedings to the District Court of Appeal. While many facts were either undisputed or stipulated by the parties, there were some critical material facts that were expressly or impliedly found by the trial court and stipulated by the parties that were changed by the District Court of Appeal. These erroneous facts constitute the foundation by which the District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's rulings.

The most notable example of this is the following statement by the District Court of Appeal in the second paragraph of page 2 of its Opinion:

> Instead of first making all of the unit owners whole from the proceeds of the rescission and insurance claim settlement, the directors fully paid their own lawyers a fee of \$175,000.00 for the rescission action, as well as some other costs. The association

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