FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 15 1993

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 500 SOUTH DUVAL STREET, TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1927K, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

OCEAN TRAIL UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

CASE NO. 82,083 4TH DCA CASE NO. 91-0350

Petitioners.

v.

STATES MEAD AND WILLIAM BRISTER, as representatives of a class of owners at the Ocean Trail Condominiums,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT--CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

SUBMITTED BY:

DAVID L. GORMAN
PETER S. VAN KEUREN
DAVID L. GORMAN, P.A.
Attorneys for Respondents
618 U.S. Highway One, Suite 303

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question certified to this Court by the Fourth District Court of Appeal as a matter of great public importance was resolved by the legislature in 1992 when it amended \$718.303(1), Fla. Stat., to provide that a condominium association may not fund its unsuccessful litigation against unit owners by assessing those unit owners to pay a share of the costs and attorney's fees incurred. The opinion of the District Court of Appeal is in harmony with the statute and no interdistrict conflict exists. Accordingly, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly determined that a condominium association may not impose a special assessment to pay the consequences of an unauthorized act by the board of directors. A special assessment must be levied for a proper purpose and for the benefit of the condominium. The underlying assessment was not made for a proper purpose as it was intended to pay for the unauthorized acts of the board of directors. In addition, the assessment at issue was not levied to pay for the obligations of the association <u>qua</u> a condominium association. Rather, the assessment challenged by **Mead** was levied to pay expenses properly owed by the association in its capacity as the trustee of a resulting trust. As such, the expenses did not benefit the condominium and could not be paid by the use of condominium funds.

Similarly the proceeds of an insurance policy purchased by and belonging to the association cannot be appropriated for payment of costs, expenses, or debts that did not benefit the condominium. Accordingly, the use of the insurance proceeds to benefit a select group of unit owners who were beneficiaries under the resulting trust was improper. Mead, therefore, requests that this Court affirm the opinion

of the Fourth District Court of Appeal if jurisdiction is accepted.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AS QUESTION OF GREAT Α IMPORTANCE SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT A CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION TO CANNOT COMPEL UNIT OWNERS PAY FOR UNAUTHORIZED ACTIONS OF THE DIRECTORS WHICH BENEFIT ONLY A SELECT GROUP OF UNIT OWNERS BY SPECIAL ASSESSMENT.

This appeal involves the liability of condominium unit owners for the unauthorized excesses of a board of directors. More specifically this Court is asked to determine if a condominium association may fund unsuccessful litigation against unit owners by assessing the prevailing unit owners. The Fourth District Court of Appeal answered the question in the negative but certified to this Court as a matter of great public importance the following question:

Whether a condominium association can enforce a special assessment imposed to pay judgments, attorney's fees and costs incurred in connection with a lawsuit brought by unit owners against the association in which the association's purchase of real property was invalidated as an unauthorized act and subsequently rescinded.

(A-10-11).

A. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY CERTIORARI ON THE QUESTION PRESENTED BECAUSE THE LEGISLATURE HAS RESOLVED THE ISSUE.

By order dated July 21, 1993 this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction in this case. Section 718.303(1), Fla. Stat., should be dispositive on the issue of whether this Court should accept jurisdiction on the question certified by the District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance. That section provides:

"[a] unit owner prevailing in an action between the association and the unit owner under this section, in addition to recovering his reasonable

attorney's fees, may recover additional amounts as determined by the court to be necessary to reimburse the unit owner for his share of assessments levied by the association to fund its expenses of the litigation."

\$718.303(1), Fla. Stat.

This, legislature has already resolved the issue which the Fourth District Court of Appeal has certified to this Court as one of great public importance. The legislature has determined that condominium associations may not fund their unsuccessful battles with unit owners from the pockets of the prevailing unit owners. Because the legislature has answered the question which the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified to be of great public importance, and since the opinion of the District Court of Appeal is in harmony with the legislature and no interdistrict conflict exists, jurisdiction should be denied.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY APPLIED THE LAW TO THE FACTS FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT AND STIPULATED TO BY THE PARTIES.

The trial court entered final judgment against Respondents determining that the special assessment levied against the objecting unit owners to pay for judgments arising out of the unauthorized actions of the board of directors was enforceable stating:

The reason why the judgments were entered is not determinative in this case. . . A unit owners duty to pay assessments, including special assessments, is conditioned solely on the basis of holding title to a condominium unit. Florida Statutes, Section 718.116(1)(2)(1987). See, Abbey Park Homeowners Association v. Bowen, 508 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

(R-557,A-3).

Upon review the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's final judgment stating:

We reject the idea that a board of directors of a condominium association may properly force unit owners to bear the direct costs of an

unauthorized act by the directors of the association, simply because the declaration and corporate articles and bylaws generally empower the association to make assessments to pay the common expenses. In so doing we affirm the principle that assessments to pay expenses are proper only when the expenses themselves are incurred in carrying out the authorized powers of the association.

(Opinion pg. 1, A-12).

At the outset the Petitioner argues that the District Court of Appeal altered the material facts of the case as determined by the trial court and by stipulation of the parties. (IB-15-17). Petitioner further claims that the District Court of Appeal based its decision on the "altered" facts. (IB-15). These arguments are without merit. For instance, Petitioner argues that the District Court of Appeal misunderstood the purpose of the \$500.00 assessment. (IB-15-16). The District Court of Appeal stated that the \$500.00 assessment was made to pay some unpaid unit owners who contributed to the original purchase and other costs. (Opinion pg. 2, A-13). The trial court found that the \$500.00 special assessment was used to repay the unpaid unit owners who contributed to the purchase and to pay the attorney's fee judgment rendered in favor of attorney John Avery, Jr., the attorney who originally brought suit on behalf of the unit owners to contest the purchase assessment. (R-555-6). The District Court of Appeal characterized the attorney fee judgment as a cost or expense "directly related to the unauthorized purchase." (Opinion pg. 2, A-13). This fact was stipulated by the parties and no error can be found in such a statement. Id.

The Petitioner also complains that the District Court of Appeal's treatment of the \$100,000.00 remaining from the insurance settlement was contrary to the findings by the trial court. (IB-16-17). Any misunderstanding by the District Court of Appeal with regard to the Petitioners use of that \$100,000.00 is immaterial; and, even if material was invited by Petitioner. In its answer brief before the District

Court of Appeal Petitioner stated, "the trial court also found that the settlement monies were used to pay debts of the Association, including a partial payment of 20% of the debt owed to each person, to everyone who had paid all or part of the purchase assessment." (AB-9). Now to argue before this Court that Petitioner was unfairly treated by the District Court of Appeal is disingenuous. The District Court's treatment of the \$100,000.00 was consistent with the Petitioner's Statement of the Facts and Case before that court as presented by the Petitioner, itself. See, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Gage, 603 So.2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) and Whitney v. Brown, 588 So.2d 681 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

The undisputed material facts before the trial court to which Petitioner stipulated and upon which the District Court of Appeal relied are as follows:

- 1. Ocean Trail Unit Owner's Association, Inc. (Ocean Trail) engaged in an unauthorized act when it attempted to purchase the Campeau Property.
- 2. As a result of that unauthorized act Ocean Trail obtained a settlement with its insurance company for \$275,000.00.
- 3. Ocean Trail used the \$275,000.00 insurance settlement to pay \$175,000.00 to its attorneys, Becker & Poliakoff, in order to pursue an action to rescind the land purchase for the benefit of a select number of unit owners.
- 4. The remaining \$100,000.00 of Ocean Trail's settlement fund was used to refund money to selected individual unit owners rather than being distributed to all unit owners or made part of common funds of the Association.
- 5. The \$500.00 special assessment which was the subject of this lawsuit was the direct result of the illegal Campeau purchase.

The Petitioner has conceded that the \$500.00 assessment was levied to pay costs directly related to the improper and unauthorized attempt to purchase the Campeau property. (IB-6). The \$500.00 assessment was used to pay an attorney fee

judgment entered against the Association in favor of the attorney who successfully challenged the original assessment for the purchase and to refund money to people who paid the original purchase assessment. <u>Id</u>. The District Court of Appeal correctly "viewed this \$500.00 assessment as a direct product of the first unauthorized act of the Association's directors." (Opinion page 3, A-14).

C. THE ASSOCIATION HAS NO POWER TO ASSESS ITS MEMBERS TO PAY THE EXPENSES INCURRED IN UNDERTAKING UNAUTHORIZED ACTS.

The District Court of Appeal correctly held that the Association cannot compel its members to pay for unauthorized acts by the board of directors by special assessment. This holding is correct because, as the District Court of Appeal stated, "[d]irectors cannot at once be unauthorized to do some act and at the same time authorized to impose assessments to pay for the consequences of the unauthorized act." (Opinion page 3, A-14). The District Court of Appeal opinion is in accord with \$718.303(1), Fla. Stat. which provides that condominium associations may not fund litigation against unit owners by assessing the prevailing unit owners.

Petitioner argues that it is legally bound by the unauthorized actions of its board of directors to third parties under traditional principles of agency law.

(IB-18). Therefore, Petitioner claims it is entitled to specially assess its members to raise the funds necessary to discharge the liability arising out of the unauthorized act. Never before in these proceedings, at the either trial or appellate levels, has Ocean Trail argued that agency law would support the special assessment. Ocean Trail cannot raise such issues for the first time in this Court. Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322, 1323-4 (Fla. 1981), U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Sellers, 197 So.2d 832, 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967) reh'g. den., cert. den., 204 So.2d 211 (Fla. 1967), see also, Grabek v. Worldwide Specialty Merchandise, Inc., 611 So.2d 590 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) and Estovir Construction Corp. v. La Pradera, Inc., 598 So.2d 265 (Fla. 3rd

DCA 1992). Petitioner's liability to third parties was not an issue in this case. This case involved the liability of unit owners to the Association to pay for the consequences of the board's unauthorized acts.

Even if Petitioner had timely argued apparent agency as a basis for enforcing the special assessment, its reasoning is fundamentally flawed. The purchase of the Campeau property was not unanimously approved by the unit owners and Ocean Trail was, therefore, unauthorized to complete the purchase on behalf of the Association as a matter of law. When a condominium association exceeds its authority in purchasing real property, the association acquires only the bare legal title under a resulting trust for the benefit of the unit owners who contributed to the purchase. Towerhouse Condominium, Inc. v. Millman, 475 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1985). Accordingly, under the holding of Towerhouse, Ocean Trail acquired only the bare legal title to the Campeau property with the equitable title vesting in the unit owners who actually paid the special assessment levied for the purchase of the property. The objecting unit owners never obtained an interest in the property and could not be held liable for the costs incurred in purchasing or protecting the property or in suing to rescind the contract to purchase the property. The objecting unit owners cannot be compelled to pay any assessment which will be used to benefit only the class of unit owners who hold an equitable interest in the Campeau property.

The liability of the Association to third parties resulting from the unauthorized act, must be satisfied by the class of unit owners who were benefitted by the purchase and cannot be apportioned to the objecting unit owners who have acquired no interest in the property. Towerhouse v. Millman, supra. Petitioner's reasoning would indirectly compel the objecting unit owners to pay expenses for the purchase

¹ This is precisely the holding of the trial court as affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the prior case of <u>Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association</u>, <u>Inc. v. Levy</u>, 489 So.2d 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

and preservation of the property for which they could not be held directly responsible. In other words, the monies obtained by assessing the objecting unit owners would be used to benefit a smaller class of unit owners by protecting rights in real property equitably owned only by the contributing individuals. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, even if the Association may have had apparent authority to enter into the agreement with Campeau, it did not have the authority to assess objecting unit owners to pay the purchase price or the costs of preserving the property or rescinding the contract. Those expenses must be borne solely by the equitable owners of the property.

The issue of Ocean Trail's liability to third parties based upon apparent authority need not be reached in this case because the rights of the third party (Campeau) were never an issue in this case and, in fact, already have been addressed by the court. Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association, Inc. v. Levy, 489 So.2d 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Campeau was not a party in this action and Ocean Trail is without standing to raise Campeau's rights herein. See, Higdon v. Metropolitan Dade County, 446 So.2d 203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). Further, this case did not involve the Association's power to acquire real property. Mead concedes the Association has such power. The limits on the power have already been defined and were never an issue in this case. See, Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association, Inc. v. Levy, supra.

The District Court of Appeal determined that the Association may not assess the entire membership to pay expenses legally owed by less than all of the members. This proposition is neither absurd nor inequitable as argued by Petitioner; to the contrary, the result the Association urges, which would allow some unit owners to profit at the expense of their neighbors, is, itself, repugnant to equitable notions.

The unit owners who objected to the purchase of the Campeau property cannot

be held liable for repayment to those who contributed nor can they be forced through the power of special assessment to pay the costs of the purchase or protection of the Campeau property.² Furthermore, the Association cannot use the proceeds of an insurance policy purchased by the Association for the benefit of all of the unit owners to pay the debts and obligations of the owners who purchased the Campeau property. Such a preferential use of common property violates the dictates of \$718.116(9)(a), Fla. Stat., (1991), which, as the District Court of Appeal noted, "provides that no unit owner may be excused from paying his share of common expenses unless all unit owners are likewise proportionately excused from payment." A refund of common property to some but not all unit owners is a clear violation of this statute. (Opinion, page 5, A-16). In addition, the District Court of Appeal noted that the "selectivity in reimbursement bears the added mischief of effectively making all owners bear an expense for some." (Opinion, page 5, Footnote 1, A-16).

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